NO. 45919-1

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RONALD C. RASHOFF and LORI J. RASHOFF, Individually and as Personal Representatives of the Estate of RYAN RASHOFF,

Appellants/Plaintiffs

VS.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON and BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE,

Respondent/Defendant.

BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE;

Appellant/Plaintiff,

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent/Defendant.

APPELLANT LAMOTTE'S OPENING BRIEF

JOHN L. MESSINA, WSBA #4440 JOHN R. CHRISTENSEN, WSBA #18860 Attorneys for Appellant/Plaintiff Lamotte MESSINA BULZOMI CHRISTENSEN 5316 Orchard Street West Tacoma, WA 98467-3633 Tel: (253) 472-6000

I. INTRODUCTION

Pursuant to RAP 10.1(g)(2) Appellant/Plaintiff Lamotte hereby joins and adopts by reference Appellant/Plaintiff Rashoff's Introduction section with the exception those statements concerning Mr. Rashoff's pre-death pain and suffering claim.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

Pursuant to RAP 10.1(g)(2) Appellant/Plaintiff Lamotte hereby joins and adopts by reference Appellant/Plaintiff Rashoff's Assignment of Errors with the exception those assignments concerning Mr. Rashoff's pre-death pain and suffering claim.

III. ISSUES

Pursuant to RAP 10.1(g)(2) Appellant/Plaintiff Lamotte hereby joins and adopts by reference Appellant/Plaintiff Rashoff's Statement of Issues with the exception those issues concerning Mr. Rashoff's pre-death pain and suffering claim.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Pursuant to RAP 10.1(g)(2) Appellant/Plaintiff Lamotte hereby joins and adopts by reference Appellant/Plaintiff Rashoff's Statement of the Case with the exception those sections concerning Mr. Rashoff's pre-death pain and suffering claim.

٧. **AUTHORITY**

Α. STANDARD OF REVIEW AND ARGUMENT

Pursuant to RAP 10.1(g)(2) Appellant/Plaintiff Lamotte hereby joins and adopts by reference Appellant/Plaintiff Rashoff's Authority, Standard of Review and Argument with the exception those issues and arguments concerning Mr. Rashoff's pre-death pain and suffering claim.

VI. CONCLUSION

Decisive factual issues exist as to whether or not State Route 12 at its intersection with Williams Street was or was not reasonably safe for motorists attempting to cross SR 12. These issues of fact should have precluded summary judgment as a matter of law under CR 56(c). The trial court erred in granting summary judgment.

Because summary judgment was erroneously granted, the trial court's order should be reversed and the case remanded for trial.

RESPECTFULLY SUBMITTED this and any of June, 2014.

MESSINA BULZOMI CHRISTENSEN

4440 JOHN R. CHRISTENSEN 18860

Attorneys for Appellant

NO. 45919-1

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RONALD C. RASHOFF and LORI J. RASHOFF, Individually and as Personal Representatives of the Estate of RYAN RASHOFF,

Appellants/Plaintiffs

VS.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON and BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE,

Respondent/Defendant.

BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE;

Appellant/Plaintiff,

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent/Defendant.

AFFIDAVIT OF FILING OF APPELLANT LAMOTTE'S OPENING BRIEF

JOHN L. MESSINA, WSBA #4440 JOHN R. CHRISTENSEN, WSBA #18860 Attorneys for Appellant/Plaintiff Lamotte MESSINA BULZOMI CHRISTENSEN 5316 Orchard Street West Tacoma, WA 98467-3633 Tel: (253) 472-6000

STATE OF WASHINGTON)
County of Pierce)
Heather Stamper, being first duly sworn,
on oath deposes and says:
On June <u>\text{\O}_,</u> 2014, I filed, via Legal Messengers, the
original and copies of Appellant Lamotte's Opening Brief with
the Clerk of the Court of Appeals, District II, of the State of
Washington.
Agon 3
SIGNED AND SWORN to before me on the <u>l</u> e day of
June, 2014, by Heather Stamper.
Sun Davin
Notary Public in and for the State of
Washington, residing at Tacoma.
My appointment expires 5 -28 - 2017

NO. 45919-1

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

RONALD C. RASHOFF and LORI J. RASHOFF, Individually and as Personal Representatives of the Estate of RYAN RASHOFF,

Appellants/Plaintiffs

VS.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON and BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE,

Respondent/Defendant.

BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE;

Appellant/Plaintiff,

VS.

STATE OF WASHINGTON.

Respondent/Defendant.

AFFIDAVIT OF SERVICE OF APPELLANT LAMOTTE'S OPENING BRIEF

JOHN L. MESSINA, WSBA #4440 JOHN R. CHRISTENSEN, WSBA #18860 Attorneys for Appellant/Plaintiff Lamotte MESSINA BULZOMI CHRISTENSEN 5316 Orchard Street West Tacoma, WA 98467-3633

Tel: (253) 472-6000

STATE OF WASHINGTON : ss. County of Pierce) Heather Stampe, being first duly sworn, on oath deposes and says: That on June 19, 2014, I delivered, via electronic mail, a copy of Appellant Lamotte's Opening Brief for service upon: Patricia D. Todd, Esq. Steve Puz, Esq. **Assistant Attorney General** 7141 Cleanwater Dr SW PO Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504-0126 stevep@atg.wa.gov Keith L. Kessler, Esq. Stritmatter Kessler Whelan Withey & Coluccio 413 Eighth Street Hoquiam, WA 98550 keith@skwwc.com James M.B. Buzzard, Esq. **Buzzard & Associates** 314 Harrison Ave PO Box 59 Centralia, WA 98531 jim@buzzardlaw.com Kevin Carey, Esq. **Bolton & Carev** 7016 35th Ave NE Seattle, WA 98115-5917 kevin@boltoncarey.com /// III

 $\parallel \parallel$

David P. Lancaster, Esq. Hollenbeck, Lancaster, Miller & Andrews 15500 SE 30th PI Ste 201 Bellevue, WA 98007 david.lancaster@farmersinsurance.com

SIGNED AND SWORN to before me on the 18 day of

June, 2014, by Heather Stamper.

Notary Public in and for the State of

Washington, residing at Tacoma.

My appointment expires 5.28.2017