FILEO COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION II 2014 SEP -8, PM 3: 17 NO. 45919-1-II STATE <u>n</u>r COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTO

RONALD C. RASHOFF, and LORI J. RASHOFF, Individually and as Personal Representatives of the Estate of RYAN RASHOFF,

Appellants,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON; and BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE,

Respondents.

BENJAMIN O. LAMOTTE,

Appellant,

v.

THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF

ROBERT W. FERGUSON Attorney General

STEVE PUZ Senior Counsel WSBA # 17407 Attorney General's Office PO Box 40126 Olympia, WA 98504 (360) 586-6300

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

V. ARGUMENT

A. WSDOT Satisfied Its Legal Duty To Exercise Ordinary Care By Complying With Accepted Engineering Standards And The Statutorily Mandated MUTCD Signal Warrants

To defeat a motion for summary judgment, a plaintiff must produce admissible evidence establishing all four elements of their negligence claim: a legal duty owed to plaintiff, breach, proximate cause, and damages. *White*, 131 Wn.2d at 9; *see also Degel v. Majestic Mobile Manor, Inc.,* 129 Wn.2d 43, 48, 914 P.2d 728 (1996). The extent and scope of the legal duty owed is a question of law for the court to decide. *Keller*, 146 Wn.2d at 243 ("Whether a municipality owes a duty in a particular situation is a question of law"); *see also Xiao Ping Chen v. City of Seattle*, 153 Wn. App. 890, 899-900, 223 P.3d 1230, 1235 (2009), *review denied*, 169 Wn.2d 1003 (2010).

All parties agree WSDOT has a duty to exercise ordinary care in the design, construction and maintenance of Washington's highways "to keep them in a reasonably safe condition for ordinary travel." *Keller*, 146 Wn.2d at 254. Similarly, all parties agree this duty extends to all persons using the highway, whether negligent or fault free. *Owen v. Burlington Northern & Santa Fe R.R. Co.*, 153 Wn.2d 780, 786, 108 P.3d 1220 (2005). It is the third question, the scope of WSDOT's duty and the standard of care it must follow, that Appellants seek to significantly expand in this appeal. As demonstrated below, the scope of WSDOT's duty and the standard of care it must adhere to in making Washington's highways reasonably safe for ordinary travel are defined by, (1) accepted engineering standards and the engineering judgment those standards require, and (2) the statutory requirements imposed by the legislature.

1. The Duty To Exercise "Ordinary Care" To Keep Roads "Reasonably Safe" Is Defined By Accepted Engineering Standards And The Requirements Imposed By Statute

Initially, WSDOT is not required, nor is it possible, to design a highway that prevents collisions. CP at 125.

It is an unfortunate reality that traffic collisions have and will continue to occur at intersections that have no defect or design flaw. Nothing can prevent drivers from exercising poor judgment or from taking unreasonable, even fatal risks. But the reasonableness of the actions of WSDOT (or any other transportation agency for that matter) and a determination of whether an intersection is reasonably safe for ordinary travel cannot be measured by the poor driving decisions of a single driver.

CP at 691 (Mr. Seyfried Decl.).

Recognizing this limitation, the Washington State Supreme Court has repeatedly held that municipalities "are not the insurers against accidents nor the guarantors of public safety and are not required to 'anticipate and protect against all imaginable acts of negligent drivers.'" *Keller*, 146 Wn.2d at 252 (citing with approval *Stewart v. State of Washington*, 92 Wn.2d 285, 299, 597 P.2d 101 (1979)). Instead, WSDOT is required to exercise "ordinary care" to keep Washington's highways in a "reasonably safe" condition for ordinary travel. *Keller*, 146 Wn.2d at 254.

By law, the design of a public highway, including the traffic control features placed on the highway, constitutes the "practice of It requires "the application of special knowledge of engineering." mathematical, physical, and engineering sciences" that are beyond the knowledge of a lay person, and, must be performed by a registered engineer.⁹ RCW 18.43.020(2) and (5)(a). Thus, in the context of the common law duty clarified in Keller, "ordinary care" is defined by the customary and usual practices of engineers. See Douglas v. Freeman, 117 Wn.2d 242, 248-49, 814 P.2d 1160 (1991) (where professional expertise is required, the standard of care "is based on proof of the customary and usual practices within the profession"); 65 C.J.S. Negligence § 163 (persons performing professional services have a duty "to exercise a reasonable degree of knowledge, skill, and care, as determined by the degree of skill and care ordinarily employed by their respective professions under similar conditions or under similar circumstances."). Similarly, where the determination of whether a highway is "reasonably safe for ordinary travel" concerns highway

⁹ Notably, as well, responsibility for the safe design of a public highway is a uniquely governmental function performed exclusively by public transportation agencies like WSDOT. *See, for example,* RCW 47.01.011.

engineering and design issues, then that determination must be controlled by accepted engineering standards.

Accepted engineering standards, and the engineering judgment those standards require, is the benchmark used not only by WSDOT, but by every transportation agency.¹⁰ CP at 125, 205, 532-33, 593, 691-92. The reason for this is immediately obvious:

By relying and adhering to such standards, WSDOT is able to utilize and benefit from not only its own extensive experience, but also from the research, testing and experience of federal and state transportation agencies across the nation. This enables WSDOT to design, construct and maintain highways that are safe for ordinary travel.

CP at 205.

Moreover, as the undisputed facts of this case establish, modifying an intersection in a way that conflicts with accepted engineering standards may actually make the intersection less safe and increase the risk of crashes. CP at 125, 533, 593.

In addition to accepted engineering standards, WSDOT's standard of care and the scope of its duty are further defined by the requirements mandated by the legislature. *Owen*, 153 Wn.2d at 787 ("a statute, regulation, or other positive enactment may help define the scope of a duty or the standard of care."). Here, all parties agree, the legislature requires WSDOT to comply with the MUTCD "signal warrants" in evaluating

¹⁰ Mr. Stevens, the forensic engineer hired by the Rashoffs, does not dispute that accepted engineering standards provide the benchmark for ensuring a state highway is safe, nor does he offer any alternative engineering standard or approach WSDOT could or should have followed here. *See* CP at 691.

whether an intersection is safe, and, if not, whether a traffic signal should be installed. RCW 47.36.020 (WSDOT shall adopt a uniform system of traffic control signals that "shall correlate with and so far as possible conform to" the MUTCD);¹¹ RCW 47.36.050 and 110 (stop sign must conform with the MUTCD); RCW 47.36.053 (the placement and maintenance of traffic devices on highways must conform with the adopted provisions of the MUTCD); *see* also Opening Br. at 13 ("The MUTCD has been adopted as law in Washington *Defendant State must comply with the provisions of the MUTCD*.") (emphasis added).

The justification for the Legislature's reliance on, and WSDOT's adherence to, the MUTCD signal warrants is immediately apparent. The MUTCD signal warrants are the product of more than five decades of research by traffic engineers, and incorporate the practical experience of traffic engineers and transportation agencies from across the nation.¹² CP at 532, 593. It is undisputed that every transportation agency in the United States, including WSDOT, uses the signal warrants to determine whether it is safe and appropriate to install a traffic signal at an intersection. CP at 532. 593. The reason for this is compelling-installation of a traffic signal at an intersection that does not

¹¹ Pursuant to this statute, WSDOT adopted the provisions of the MUTCD signal warrants. WAC 468-95-010.

¹² Compliance with the MUTCD is also a condition of federal grant funding. *See Garcia*, 161 Wn. App. at 8 n.2.

satisfy the signal warrants *increases* the risk of crashes. CP at 125, 533, 593.

There are eight separate MUTCD signal warrants that evaluate the operation and geometrics of the intersection from every relevant perspective. Specifically, those eight signal warrants require a comprehensive evaluation of: traffic speed; average traffic volume and the corresponding gaps available for the disfavored traffic (e.g., those vehicles that are required to yield the right of way to cross traffic); the number and type of lanes on the respective roads; the crash experience at the intersection; and the intersection's relationship to other intersections, the highway network, school crossings, and pedestrian volume. CP at 464 (Mr. Stevens' Decl.), 593. At least one of the eight signal warrants must be met before a transportation agency can consider installing a traffic signal at the intersection. CP at 126, 205, 464. Strict adherence to the warrants is required. As Mr. Seyfried explained:

The question of whether to install a traffic signal is not taken lightly. *Installing a traffic signal at an intersection that does not meet any of the MUTCD signal warrants is not only unsound and improper from an engineering perspective, it also increases the likelihood that crashes will take place at that intersection.* For that reason, the specific section of the MUTCD that contains the signal warrants, Section 4C.01 "Studies and Factors for Justifying Traffic Control Signals," specifically warns that a traffic control signal "should not be *installed unless one or more of the factors described in this* Chapter are met." Similarly, even when an intersection is analyzed under Signal Warrant 7 (which, per the MUTCD, is the Warrant used when "the severity and frequency of crashes are the principal reasons to consider installing a traffic control signal"), the MUTCD warns that a traffic signal should only be considered if an "adequate trial of alternatives" has "failed to reduce the crash frequency." *The reason, again, is that a traffic* control signal does not prevent the occurrence of crashes. Quite to the contrary, a traffic signal installed at a location that does not conform with the MUTCD signal warrants may increase the frequency of crashes at that intersection.

CP at 593-94 (emphasis added); *see also* CP at 533 ("Installing a traffic signal in an intersection that does not meet warrants leads to increased collisions and unnecessary delay.").

The crux of Appellants' claim is that WSDOT breached a duty because of the absence of a traffic signal. In this context, the scope of WSDOT's duty, and the standard of care it must adhere to, are defined and controlled by, (1) accepted engineering standards and the engineering judgment those standards require, and (2) the statutory requirements imposed by the legislature. Appellants failed to present admissible evidence demonstrating a breach of this duty; therefore, their negligence claim fails, and the grant of summary judgment to WSDOT should be affirmed. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225.

2. The Expansive "Totality Of The Circumstances" Test Advanced By Appellants Is Both Legally Wrong And Contrary To Sound Public Policy

Citing *Chen*, 153 Wn. App. 890, Appellants contend WSDOT's standard of care is established by reference to a nebulous, undefined "totality of circumstances" standard, that may neither reflect nor be

consistent with accepted engineering standards.¹³ Opening Br. at 4-5. By untethering their new, expanded test from accepted engineering standards, Appellants seek to transform "totality of circumstances" into a standard that is met when "any circumstances are alleged," even if the plaintiff can prove no violation of any engineering standards. Indeed, once sound engineering standards are removed from the standard of care equation, there remains no logical or meaningful way to qualify, quantify or otherwise evaluate whether a highway is reasonably safe. According to Appellants, any evidence becomes sufficient to defeat summary judgment, even when, like here, that evidence advocates a course of action that increases the risk of crashes, made the highway more dangerous for millions of other drivers, and is contrary to the MUTCD engineering standards that have been developed to make roads safer. Opening Br. at 34-36. Respectfully, that is not the law in Washington, and for good reason. As Mr. Seyfried explained:

It is improper to expect or demand transportation agencies to risk the safety and lives of millions of drivers and abandon accepted traffic engineering principals to try and prevent a single driver from taking an unreasonable, dangerous risk that causes a terrible accident.

CP at 691-92.

¹³ As demonstrated below, Appellants misconstrue the nature and scope of the *Chen* holding, which, in any event, should be construed in light of the peculiar facts of that case.

Furthermore, Appellants' proposed radical expansion of WSDOT's duty is inconsistent with the holding in *Chen*. In *Chen*, the City of Seattle took affirmative action that made an intersection unsafe. Specifically, the City removed the very safety structure, a pedestrian island, that it previously installed to prevent vehicle-pedestrian accidents. *Chen*, 153 Wn. App. at 910. While the island was in place, the vehicle-pedestrian accidents completely stopped. Despite this success, the City removed the pedestrian island, apparently to appease a business that wanted to increase vehicle access to its establishment. *Id*.

Importantly, the City removed the pedestrian island without taking any other steps to protect pedestrians from the known dangers that caused it to install the island in the first place. Predictably, the City's action led to a sharp increase in pedestrian-vehicle accidents at the intersection, including one fatality. Subsequently, the plaintiff, too, was struck and killed by a vehicle while trying to cross that same intersection. *Id.* at 894-95. The plaintiff's estate sued alleging, in part, the City created an unsafe condition when it removed the pedestrian island. *Id.* at 896-97.

Based on the unique facts presented in *Chen*, Division I of the Court of Appeals held:

Whether roadway conditions are reasonably safe for ordinary travel depends on the circumstances surrounding a particular roadway. Although relevant to the determination of whether a municipality has breached its duty, evidence that a particular physical defect in a roadway rendered the roadway dangerous or misleading or evidence that a municipality was in violation of a law concerning roadway safety measures are not essential to a claim that a municipality breached the duty of care owed to travelers on its roadways. A trier of fact may conclude that a municipality breached its duty of care based on the totality of the circumstances established by the evidence.

Chen, 153 Wn. App. at 894.

However, contrary to the position advanced by Appellants here, *Chen* did not uncouple "totality of circumstances" from accepted engineering practices. Rather, it found summary judgment was not appropriate because the plaintiff produced admissible expert testimony that the "city created an unsafe condition when it removed the pedestrian island," and the number of "crossing gaps" at the intersection did not conform with "sound engineering principles." *Chen*, 153 Wn. App. at 896-97, 910.

Unlike *Chen*, there is no evidence WSDOT ever altered or modified the Williams Street/SR 12 intersection in a way that created a defect or unsafe condition. Quite to the contrary, it is undisputed WSDOT installed additional signs on Williams Street in 2007 that completely eliminated "enter at angle crashes"¹⁴ at the intersection for more than two years. CP at 536. Moreover, unlike *Chen*, and as demonstrated below, the undisputed admissible evidence establishes that the intersection had no physical defect, satisfied all accepted engineering standards, and complied

¹⁴ An "enter at angle" crash is one where the vehicle entering the intersection is required to grant right of way to traffic coming from the right or left but fails to do so. CP at 463.

with every MUTCD standard at the time of Mr. Lamotte's collision. *Infra*, at 26 to 29.

The Court should reject Appellants' attempt to expand WSDOT's duty. It should hold that WSDOT's duty, and the standard of care it must adhere to, requires evidence that, if believed, would demonstrate a breach of (1) accepted engineering standards and the engineering judgment those standards require, or (2) the statutory requirements imposed by the legislature.

B. As A Matter Of Law, The Williams Street/SR 12 Intersection Was Reasonably Safe For Ordinary Travel

Whether a defendant breached the applicable standard of care typically presents a question of fact and, thus, is not ordinarily susceptible to summary judgment. However, as the trial court did here, this issue can be decided as a matter of law when the facts are undisputed and "reasonable minds can reach only one conclusion." *Ruff*, 125 Wn.2d at 703; *Hartley v. State*, 103 Wn.2d 768, 775, 698 P.2d 77, 81 (1985); *Miller*, 109 Wn. App. at 140. Here, Appellants' negligence claim fails as a matter of law because they did not produce any admissible evidence of WSDOT's negligence under the legal standard described above.

Initially, it is not unusual nor is it inherently dangerous for a cross street to intersect with a rural state highway that has a posted speed limit of 55 m.p.h. Such intersections exist on rural highways across the nation. *See* CP at 138. Rather, each intersection must separately be evaluated to determine whether it conformed with accepted engineering standards. The undisputed evidence establishes that the Williams Street/SR 12 intersection met or exceeded every accepted engineering standard at the time of Mr. Lamotte's collision. CP at 205, 691-92.

It is undisputed this intersection conformed with all geometric design standards regarding lane width and striping. CP at 205. It is also undisputed that drivers who stopped on Williams Street had a clear, unobstructed view of SR 12 extending more than 2,000 feet. CP at 533.

Similarly, Appellants do not dispute that the time gaps available to drivers on Williams Street who wanted to cross SR 12 met or exceeded every national and state highway engineering design standard. CP at 162-63. Again, the unchallenged facts establish that, had Mr. Lamotte waited just six seconds, he could have easily and safely crossed the intersection using only a mild rate of acceleration. CP at 200, 202. In addition, it is undisputed that the posted speed limit on SR 12 conformed with the requirements of the MUTCD, and was appropriate for conditions along SR 12 in the vicinity of Mr. Lamotte's collision.¹⁵ CP at 161-62.

¹⁵ The Rashoffs suggest WSDOT could have established a different speed limit in the vicinity of the intersection. Opening Br. at 13. However, none of their experts supported that suggestion. On the contrary, it is undisputed the traffic studies conducted by WSDOT did not reveal any speeding problems on SR 12. CP at 162. Further, Mr. Seyfried opined the posted speed limit satisfied the MUTCD requirements. In addition, research demonstrates that lowering the posted speed limit on this highway was "unlikely to change the actual speed of traffic." CP at 162. None of these opinions are disputed. Finally, on a more practical front, there is no evidence Mr. Lamotte ever looked for oncoming traffic before pulling in front of Mr. Steen's log truck. Thus, there is no evidence a reduced speed limit would have had any effect on the unfortunate decision he made.

Nevertheless, Appellants contend the intersection was not safe because it did not have a traffic signal prior to Mr. Lamotte's collision. Again, that claim is not supported by any admissible evidence and was properly rejected by the trial court. As it does with every intersection across the state, WSDOT repeatedly reviewed the safety of the Williams Street/SR 12 intersection. In fact, it is undisputed WSDOT studied this intersection in 2003, 2004, 2006, 2007, May 18, 2009, and again after Mr. Lamotte's collision in December, 2009. *See* CP at 138-39, 143-46.

In conducting these studies, WSDOT evaluated the intersection using all eight of the MUTCD signal warrants. CP at 139-61. The undisputed admissible evidence establishes the intersection never satisfied the criteria of any of the eight signal warrants prior to Mr. Lamotte's collision. Furthermore, it is undisputed that installing a traffic signal before Mr. Lamotte's collision would have increased the risk of crashes for millions of other drivers who passed through the intersection. CP at 126, 206, 533, 592-93.

In short, Mr. Lamotte's December 8, 2009 collision did not result from any defect or engineering deficiency with the road itself. It resulted solely from Mr. Lamotte's poor, still unexplained, decision to pull directly into the path of a close, fast approaching log truck. As Mr. Rose concluded following his unchallenged reconstruction of this collision, "Mr. Lamotte, alone, controlled the sequence of events that

caused this collision." CP at 172. That Mr. Lamotte made an incredibly poor, illegal driving decision does not mean there was anything wrong or unsafe about the intersection. CP at 691.

WSDOT complied with every engineering standard and the statutorily required MUTCD. Given this undisputed evidence, reasonable minds can reach only one conclusion—this collision was caused solely by Mr. Lamotte and not by any defect, deficiency or condition of the intersection. The trial court correctly dismissed Appellants' negligence claims against WSDOT, and this Court should affirm that order. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225.

1. The Trial Court Properly Ruled Mr. Stevens' Opinions And Conclusions Were Inadmissible Under ER 702

Mr. Stevens cited and exclusively relied on the MUTCD signal warrants to analyze the traffic volume, crash history, and, indeed, the overall safety of the subject intersection. From his analysis of the signal warrants, Mr. Stevens concluded WSDOT should have installed a traffic signal at the intersection prior to Mr. Lamotte's collision.¹⁶ However, while the MUTCD signal warrants are the product of more than

¹⁶ Mr. Stevens also suggests WSDOT should have installed a 4-way stop on this highway as an "interim" measure until a traffic signal was installed. CP at 468. Again, his suggestion is directly contrary to the requirements of the MUTCD. Under the MUTCD, consideration of a 4-way stop at an intersection is only appropriate when the volume of traffic on the intersecting roads is approximately equal, and, again, states that consideration should only be given to this option when less intrusive measures are first attempted. It is undisputed neither of these factors were met. CP at 535, 600-01. Thus, installation of a 4-way stop on this highway would have violated both the statutory MUTCD requirements and accepted engineering standards.
five-decades of research, it is undisputed that the methodology Mr. Stevens used to analyze those warrants is unique to him and this lawsuit. CP at 534, 596, 684-86, 789-90. Appellants nevertheless contend that, because Mr. Stevens' is a registered engineer, his opinions concerning the safety of the highway are admissible, regardless of whether they conform to accepted engineering practices. Opening Br. at 33. They are mistaken.

The trial court "must exclude expert testimony involving scientific evidence unless the testimony satisfies both *Frye* and ER 702." *Lakev*, 176 Wn.2d at 918-19.

To admit evidence under *Frye*, the trial court must find that the underlying scientific theory and the "'techniques, experiments, or studies utilizing that theory'" are generally accepted in the relevant scientific community and capable of producing reliable results. To admit expert testimony under ER 702, the trial court must determine that the witness qualifies as an expert and the testimony will assist the trier of fact. Unreliable testimony does not assist the trier of fact. *Frye* and ER 702 work together to regulate expert testimony: *Frye* excludes testimony based on novel scientific methodology until a scientific consensus decides the methodology is reliable; ER 702 excludes testimony where the expert fails to adhere to that reliable methodology.

Id. at 918-19 (citations omitted).

The trial court has "wide discretion" in ruling on the admissibility of expert testimony. *Miller*, 109 Wn. App. at 140. The exclusion of expert testimony is reviewed for abuse of discretion. *Lakey*, 176 Wn.2d at 919 ("A trial court abuses its discretion by issuing manifestly unreasonable rulings or rulings based on untenable grounds, such as a ruling contrary to law.").

Contrary to Appellants' assertion, the exclusion of Mr. Stevens' opinions was not based on the "personal opinion" of the trial judge, nor did the trial court improperly weigh the testimony of opposing experts. Opening Br. at 33-35. Rather, the trial court excluded Mr. Stevens' opinions because the methodology he used to analyze signal warrants No. 1 and No. 7 was inconsistent with the express requirements of the MUTCD and not generally accepted in the community of traffic engineers. CP at 643. As a matter of law, no court can consider Mr. Stevens' inadmissible opinions and conclusions in ruling on WSDOT's motion for summary judgment. ER 702; *Lakey*, 176 Wn. 2d at 920; *Lake Chelan*, 176 Wn. App. at 175; *Cano-Garcia*, 168 Wn. App. at 249.

a. Mr. Stevens' Analysis Of Warrant No. 1 Did Not Conform With The Requirements Of The MUTCD Or Accepted Engineering Practices

Based on the "traffic counts made by WSDOT in 2006," Mr. Stevens concluded the intersection satisfied signal warrant No. 1.¹⁷ CP at 464 (Stevens' Decl.). He was forced to concede, however, that he failed to apply the mathematical "multi-axle factor" to the raw data he used. CP at 646. As demonstrated below, this, in turn, resulted in

¹⁷ Signal warrant No. 1 focuses on traffic volume and "is intended for application at locations where a large volume of intersecting traffic is the principal reason to consider installing a traffic signal." CP at 141, 487.

artificially inflated traffic counts that rendered his analysis meaningless and inadmissible. CP at 595, 646.

The 2006 traffic counts were collected by mechanical devices that, to passing drivers, looked like rubber tubes stretched across the highway. Those devices recorded each time the wheels of a vehicle axle drove over it. CP at 594-95. However, the collection of this data is only the beginning step in the traffic volume calculation. CP at 594-95.

Thus, every two axles are counted as a single vehicle However, neither WSDOT, nor any other transportation agency, relies or uses this raw, unrefined data as the final traffic volume count when applying the MUTCD signal warrants. The reason is immediately obvious: it does not account for the multi-axle vehicles that travel on the roads. Thus, for example, a five axle tractor trailer truck would be recorded as $2\frac{1}{2}$ vehicles when, in reality, only one vehicle had passed through the intersection.

CP at 595.

Accordingly, like every transportation agency in the nation, WSDOT applies the multi-axle formula to the raw traffic counts to address the over-reporting caused by multi-axle vehicles. CP at 594-95. Mr. Stevens never explained why he ignored the multi-axle adjustment factor in his analysis.¹⁸ When this formula is applied to the data used by Mr. Stevens, the traffic volume requirements of signal warrant No. 1 are not met. CP at 534, 596-97. Mr. Stevens' decision not to apply the multi-

¹⁸ Mr. Seyfried pointed out Mr. Stevens' mathematical error in his initial report. CP at 141. Still, Mr. Stevens chose to offer opinions under oath he knew were incorrect. CP at 685.

axle formula was a violation of accepted engineering standards. CP at 686 ("[T]he use of the unadjusted raw traffic volume data is not a methodology used or relied upon by the professional community of traffic engineers when analyzing the MUTCD Signal Warrants.").

To be clear, no reasonable traffic engineer would ever use the raw, unadjusted traffic data from 2006 to analyze the MUTCD Signal Warrants. The reason is simple: the MUTCD requires transportation agencies to use traffic volumes for "an average day" when analyzing the Signal Warrants. By definition, the artificially inflated traffic volume numbers from 2006 used by Mr. Stevens did not and do not represent an "average day" at the intersection of SR 12 and Williams Road.

CP at 685 (Mr. Seyfried Decl.).

Even after his methods were directly challenged, Mr. Stevens could cite no engineering principal, guideline, study or accepted engineering practice that explained, permitted or justified the methodology he used, nor his use of raw traffic volume data. CP at 686.

In addition, to determine the traffic volume for "an average day," as the MUTCD specifically requires, traffic engineers must apply a "seasonal adjustment" factor to the raw traffic counts. CP at 596. As Mr. Seyfried explained:

By definition, traffic studies are performed over a relatively few number of days during a single week of the year. It is well established that traffic volumes vary significantly depending on the time of year for a variety of reasons (weather, greater influx of vacationers, etc.). Again, Warrant 1 of the MUTCD requires the traffic engineer to consider traffic volumes on "an average day." To account for the different traffic volumes and patterns that occur on a specific highway over the course of a year and use data that best captures "an average day," a second "seasonal" adjustment is applied to the raw data. Depending on the time of year that the raw data is collected, the mathematical factor used will result in either an upward or downward adjustment of the raw data.

CP at 595-96.

This seasonal adjustment factor is an integral part of the formula used by engineers to evaluate signal warrant No. 1. CP at 141, 534, 595-96. Mr. Stevens concedes he never applied this required formula to the traffic counts he used. CP at 646-47. Once again, it is undisputed that, had Mr. Stevens applied the seasonal adjustment here, the traffic volumes would never satisfy signal warrant No. 1. CP at 596. Mr. Stevens failed to cite any engineering principal, guideline, study or accepted engineering practice that explained, permitted or justified his decision to cut out this required step from his signal warrant analysis.¹⁹ CP at 686.

For these reasons, it is undisputed that Mr. Stevens' analysis of signal warrant No. 1 fails to conform with any known or accepted engineering practice. The trial court correctly ruled Mr. Stevens' opinions would not be helpful to a trier-of-fact and were inadmissible under ER 702. Appellants cannot establish that the trial court abused its discretion in

¹⁹ Mr. Stevens desperately tried to salvage his fatally flawed analysis of signal warrant No. 1 in his supplemental declaration by speculating that higher traffic counts may have existed in 2003, six years *before* the Lamotte collision. *See* CP at 596. He is mistaken. First, as a matter of law, Mr. Stevens' speculation is not sufficient to create a material issue of fact. *Young*, 112 Wn.2d at 225. Even more importantly, however, the actual traffic counts covering the period of his speculation. CP at 143. Mr. Stevens simply chose to ignore the actual traffic count numbers in favor of the traffic count numbers that he literally made up. Not surprisingly, he was unable to explain this significant deviation from accepted engineering standards.

reaching this conclusion, and, thus, the trial court's ruling should be affirmed.

b. Mr. Stevens' Analysis Of Signal Warrant No. 7 Did Not Follow The MUTCD Requirements Or Conform With Accepted Engineering Practices

The methodology Mr. Stevens used in his analysis of signal warrant No. 7 was similarly flawed. Signal warrant No. 7 provides the methodology for analyzing the crash history at an intersection and "is intended for application where the severity and frequency of crashes are the principal reasons to consider installing a traffic control signal." CP at 160, 490. Here, there were 13 "enter at angle" collisions at the Williams Street/SR 12 intersection between 2003 and Mr. Lamotte's collision. By way of perspective, it is undisputed that more than 11.7 million vehicles drove through this intersection over that same period without incident. CP at 206.

The experts agree all three criteria must be met for signal warrant No. 7 to apply: (1) the engineer must attempt an "adequate trial of alternatives with satisfactory observance and enforcement" in an attempt to reduce the crash frequency; (2) there must be five or more reported crashes, of types susceptible to correction by a traffic control signal, occurred within a 12-month period; *and* (3) the traffic volume at the intersection must meet certain minimum levels. CP at 466, 490 (text of signal warrant No. 7).

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